#### ORIGINAL

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

3

4

5

6

VS.

7

8

9

10 11

12

13

14

15

16 17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25 26

27

28

OCT 20 2003

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I.	THE STATE FAILED TO PRODUCE SUBSTANTIAL, CREDIBLE
	EVIDENCE THAT BENNETT WAS THE SOURCE OF THE ALLEGED
	WITNESS INTIMIDATION IN VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH
	AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

- II. A NEW TRIAL IS WARRANTED DUE TO THE COURT'S FAILURE TO CONDUCT A PRETRIAL PETROCELLI HEARING AND TO GIVE THE PROPER LIMITING INSTRUCTION ON THE ALLEGED WITNESS INTIMIDATION IN VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- III. BENNETT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BY LIMITING THE TESTIMONY OF LAKIESHA REED AND REGINALD FOBBS.
- IV. THE DISTRICT COURT IMPROPERLY LIMITED THE CROSS-EXAMINATION
  OF PURPORTED EYEWITNESS PAMELA NEAL IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH
  AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNTIED STATES
  CONSTITUTION.
- V. THE COURT ERRED IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NUMBERS 10 AND 11 WHICH DEFINED EXPRESS AND IMPLIED MALICE AND MALICE AFORETHOUGHT.
- VI. MR. BENNETT IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON PREJUDICIAL CUMULATIVE ERROR.
- VIII. THE STATE'S FAILURE TO PRODUCE IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE
  REGARDING A KEY WITNESS WARRANTS A NEW TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF
  HIS FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO THE UNITED
  STATES CONSTITUTION..

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joseph Williams (aka Doughboy) was shot and killed on March 3, 2001 and on May 18, 2001 a criminal complaint was filed charging Ashley Bennett, Antwant Graves, Lailoni Morrison, Anthony Gantt and Jermaine Webb with Conspiracy to Commit Murder and Murder with Use of Deadly Weapon with the Intent to promote a criminal gang (A.A. Vol. I, pp. 1-3). At the conclusion of the preliminary hearing only Bennett, Morrison and Gantt were bound over to stand trial on the murder charge. An Information was filed in District Court on June 7, 2001.

The District Court granted Motions to sever the trials of the defendants. The trial of Bennett was set first, however, on the eve of trial, co-defendant Gantt entered into a plea negotiation with the State in exchange for his testimony against Bennett and Morrison. Bennett's trial was therefore continued and commenced on January 22, 2002. The trial concluded and closing arguments were heard on Friday, February 1, 2002 and on Monday, February 4, 2002 the jury returned a verdict of First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. The Court conducted the sentencing and sentenced Bennett on June 18, 2002 to Life in prison without the possibility of parole.

On February 11, 2002, a Motion for New Trial was filed. On February 21, 2002, the court denied the issues in the Motion for New Trial. A subsequent Motion for New Trial was filed by newly appointed counsel, Mr. Stanley Walton.

On June 18, 2002 the court denied the Motion for New Trial. This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES

<u>Lailoni Morrison v. State of Nevada</u>, Supreme Court Case Number 40097.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Throughout the various testimony individuals are referred to by both their street names and their real names. In order to make the testimony most understandable, reference herein will by the

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

real names. The various street names are as follow: Wayne Gantt (Wacky G); Louis Matthews (Chew, Chewy or Chew Wak): Ashley Bennett (Face): Antwon Graves (T Wak): and Joseph Williams (Doughboy).

Monique Hunt had an on and off boyfriend relationship with Joseph Williams (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 350). He had a key to her apartment on Morton Street and if he needed a place to take a shower, change clothes or rest he had permission to use her apartment (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 353-354). She left her home on March 3, 2001 at around 10:00 AM and when she returned about 3:00 in the afternoon there was no where to park because of the paramedics and crowds of people so she parked across Martin Luther King at her grandmother's house (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 353-354). Shortly thereafter her aunt came running up and told her that Williams had been shot so she took off and followed the ambulance to the hospital (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 358). She stayed at the hospital until she learned that Williams had passed (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 358-359).

Hunt also knew Morrison and his girlfriend, Stephanie Riedel who was her best friend in high school. It was common knowledge that Williams was her boyfriend.

Security Officer James Golden was traveling through Carey Arms in a golf cart with maintenance worker Don Stewart on March 3, 2001 when he heard about 20 gunshots (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 303-305). He posted up behind a tree and when the shooting stopped ran toward Morton Street to see if he could see anyone leaving the area in a vehicle (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 307-308). Not seeing anything he went back to the golf cart and saw a number of people running through a park area (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 314-315). A individual he knew as Wayne appeared to making gestures with his hand like he was trying to put something in his pants (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 314-316). Subsequently, Golden picked Gantt out of a photo lineup as the person he saw running (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 3320).

Immediately after the gunshots Golden called his dispatch, and then went to the area of the

gunshots and found one subject laying partially face down on the ground and then called for medical assistance (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 321-322). Before approaching the body, Golden checked to be sure that the area was clear and did not see anyone on any of the surrounding balconies (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 323-324). Three individuals approached and attempted to move Williams into a car to take him to the hospital, but Golden stopped them (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 325-326).

Golden knew and recognized Morrison and did not see him present at any time on March 3, 2001 (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 350).

Dr. Gary Telgenhoff testified that he was employed at the Clark County Coroner's Office.

(A.A. Vol. IV, pp. 680). On March 4, 2001, Dr. Telgenhoff performed an autopsy on the body of Joseph J. Williams. (A.A. Vol. IV, pp. 682) There were fourteen bullet entry wounds in the body.

(A.A. Vol. IV, pp. 682) Dr. Telgenhoff concluded that Mr. Williams died as a result of multiple gunshot wounds as a result of homicide. (A.A. Vol. IV, pp. 703).

Anthony Gantt testified for the prosecution after entering a plea with an agreement to testify against Mr. Bennett. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 534). Originally, Mr. Gantt was charged with the Murder of Joseph Williams that had occurred on March 3, 2001. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 534). On November 26, 2001, Mr. Gantt entered into an agreement with the State wherein he would agree to testify against his co-defendant's. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 534). As part of the plea agreement, Mr. Gantt would receive a sentence of life with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years for Second Degree Murder. Additionally, the State would retain the right to argue as to whether his sentence on conspiracy to commit murder was to run concurrent or consecutive to the Second Degree Murder. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 537).

Mr. Gantt entered the courtroom at Mr. Bennett's trial to testify and was sworn in and then stated "I ain't testifying." (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 528). At that point, the court room was cleared and

HRISTOPHER ₹ 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

permitted Mr. Gantt to confer with his attorney, Ms. Christina Wildeveld. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 528-530). During the brief recess, the prosecutor indicated that there were spectators in the court room who were allegedly affiliated with the person Gerson Park Kingsmen, and this was the reason Mr. Gantt was reluctant to testify. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 530). Thereafter, Mr. Gantt agreed to testify after a conference with his attorney. Mr. Gantt testified that Ashley Bennett had a moniker of "Face". (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 535).

On March 3, 2001, Mr. Gantt was fifteen years old and was present at a gathering at "L-Wack's house. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 538). The purpose of this gathering at "L-Wack's" residence was because "L-Wack's" little brother, Mark Doyle, had been killed. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 538). Mr. Gantt was present along with Ashley Bennett, "T-Wack", "Chew-Wack", Lailoni Morrison and Henry at the gathering. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 539).

At approximately 11:00 a.m. in the morning this gathering occurred. Thereafter, Mr. Gantt testified that Ashley Bennett suggested that they go up to the "hunt house" to shoot up the house (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 539). The purpose of going to the "hunt house" to shoot it up was because the 'hunt house' was a meeting place for the Rolling Sixties. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 541). Mr. Gantt explained that the Rolling Sixties and the Gerson Park Kingsmen were "beefing". (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 541). Mr. Gantt included himself as an associate of the Gerson Park Kingsmen (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 541).

As the group walked toward the "hunt house", Mr. Gantt noticed that security walked past so the group turned around. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 542). Thereafter, they observed the victim, Mr. Williams also known as "dough boy", wherein Mr. Bennett alleged stated, "there goes a sixty niggar" and the shooting began. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 546). Mr. Gantt testified that himself, Lailoni Morrison, Louis Matthews and Antwon Graves, and Ashley Bennett all shot into the body of the victim, Mr. Williams.

. 1	CHRISTOPH
)	HER
)	<b>P</b> . 0
!	ORAM

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Mr. Gantt testified that Mr. Bennett used a 9millimeter hand gun during the shooting. (A.A. Vol. III
pp. 549). Mr. Gantt estimated that there were approximately 20 shots fired. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 550).
Mr. Gantt was positive that "Chew-Wack" known as Louis Matthews was the last person who shot
into the body of the victim. This fact was directly contradicted by the State's witness Ms. Pam Neal
Although Mr. Gantt associates with the Gerson Park Kingsmen, he denied being a member of their
gang. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 553). During direct examination, the prosecutor questioned Mr. Gantt as to
whether anyone was present with him as he ran across the field after the shooting. Mr. Gantt
indicated that he was present with Henry. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 556). The prosecutor then stated,

- Q: Henry. You didn't mention Henry before when you gave the list of people here that were involved in the shooting. Why is that?
- A: Cause Henry wasn't involved in the shooting.
- Where was Henry in that he could run with you? Q:
- He was on the sidewalk of 2529. A:
- Q: Can you take that black marker and just put an H where Henry is? Do you know if Henry had a gun?
- Yes. A:
- Q: What kind of a gun did he have?
- a .357. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 556). **A**:

Mr. Gantt was questioned as to whether he observed Ms. Pam Neal at any time during, before or after the shooting to which Mr. Gantt denied seeing Ms. Neal. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 564). Mr. Gantt indicated that he knew who Ms. Pam Neal was but that he did not observe her. Mr. Gantt was asked,

- Q: If Pam Neal had indicated that Lailoni Morrison fired the first shot, would that be incorrect?
- Yes. A:

Mr. Gantt stated that Mr. Morrison did not fire the first shot because Antwon Graves was the person who fired the first shot. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 565). Mr. Gantt was also asked the following question,

- Q: Pamela Neal indicated that it was you that fired the last shot into dough boy as he was on the ground? Would that be a lie?
- Yes. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 565). A:

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM Mr. Gantt was asked the following question,

If Mr. Golden had indicated that he saw you with two other juveniles running from the scene, would that be a lie?

A: Yes.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

According to Mr. Gantt, he only fired into "dough boy" because he felt his life was in jeopardy. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 567).

Mr. Gantt indicated that Pamela Neal was lying when she testified that Mr. Gantt was the person who fired the last shot into "dough boy". (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 568-569). Mr. Gantt claimed that Pamela Neal lied about Mr. Gantt shooting into "dough boy" last because she was attempting to get her case dropped. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 570). Mr. Gantt specifically testified that he knew that Pam Neal was not present to witness the shooting because he knew no one was out there at the time of the shooting. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 570). Mr. Gantt agreed that he was facing the possibility of life without parole had he proceeded to trial and been convicted. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 573). After the entry of Mr. Gantt's plea, he sent Mr. Bennett a letter stating that he was not going to testify. Mr. Gantt made mention in the letter that he had been pressured into negotiating the case to testify against Mr. Bennett. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 584). As part of Mr. Gantt's case, he admitted that his attorney had conducted a psychological evaluation to determine Mr. Gantt's competency. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 534).

Prior to March 3,2001, Mr. Gantt had never socialized with Mr. Bennett, did not know Mr. Bennett's true name and did not even know where Mr. Bennett lived. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 587).

Mr. Gantt admitted that the shooting had nothing to do with "dough boy" being one of the Rolling Sixties or the other co-conspirators being part of the Gerson Park Kingsmen. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 595). In fact, Mr. Gantt testified that the reason he shot "dough boy" was to protect himself. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 595).

On March 21, 2001, Mr. Gantt gave a statement tot he police at juvenile hall, wherein he told the police that he did not know anything about the shooting of Mr. Williams. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 596).

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

On May 7, 2001, Mr. Gantt was interviewed again by police officers at juvenile detention. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 597). Mr. Gantt admitted at trial that his statement to the police on May 7, 2001, was not freely and voluntarily given. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 598). Mr. Gantt testified that he was pressured in this statement by the police telling him that he could receive the death penalty if he didn't' cooperate. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 598). In his May 7, 2001, statement Mr. Gantt told police that co-defendant, Lailoni Morrison had come back and changed his clothes, however, at trial he indicated that Lailoni Morrison had never come back to change his clothes. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 600). Mr. Gantt also freely admitted that when he told the police officer that he had been at the basketball courts prior to the shooting was a lie. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 601). The reason that he lied to them regarding him being at the basketball courts was because the police were exerting pressure on him. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 601.

During cross- examination, Mr. Gantt finally admitted he had to duck because Henry was behind him shooting. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 603). This testimony was directly contradicted by Mr. Gantt's earlier testimony, wherein he indicated that Henry was not part of the shooting. Mr. Gantt explained that he told the police that he had shot into the leg because the police had suggested the answer to him. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 605).

Mr. Gantt admitted it was not Mr. Graves who stated, "I'm going to smoke this dude". It was in fact Mr. Bennett and when he told the police it was Mr. Graves, that was a lie. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 609). Mr. Gantt was questioned as to his statement to the police wherein he stated that it was no one's idea to go over to the "hunt house" to shoot it up. He remembered making that statement. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 612). However, at trial, he maintained it was Mr. Bennett's idea.

In his November 21, 2001, statement to the police, Mr. Gantt indicated that Henry was not in possession of a gun. At trial he admitted that he was just attempting to protect Henry. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 616). Mr. Gantt testified that the reason he made this statement is because he felt pressure form

the police. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 617). Mr. Gantt admitted that in his November 21, 2001, statement, not only were the police present but Deputy District Attorney Melissa De La Garza was also present. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 621-2). Mr. Gantt admitted in his November 21, 2001, statement that he was lying to the police when he told the police that Lailoni Morrison had obtained the gun from Henry and that was a lie.(A.A. Vol. III, pp. 621-2). In Mr. Gantt's November 21, 2001, statement to the police he indicated that Jermaine Webb had obtained a .357 at the time of the shooting. However, at trial, he testified that Jermaine Webb was not there and not involved in the shooting. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 623). When asked why he had lied to the police about Jermaine Webb, Mr. Gantt testified that he told them that Jermaine Webb had the gun and had given it to Henry. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 623). However, at trial, Mr. Gantt was adamant that Jermaine Webb was not involved. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 623).

Mr. Gantt was adamant that Mr. Bennett was in possession of a black nine millimeter hand gun during the shooting. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 625-626). This is in direct contradiction to Ms. Neal's testimony, wherein she stated that Mr. Bennett was in possession of a silver western style gun. Mr. Gantt agreed that the only reason he testified against Mr. Bennett "to save his own skin". (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 633).

On redirect examination, the prosecutor asked the following question,

- Q: He was in the Gerson Park Kingsmen that you associated with? Correct? (referring to Ashley Bennett)
- A: Yes. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 634).

Farther down the page the following question and answer occurred,

- Q: And in fact, Mr. Gantt was there a point in which this defendant basically threatened you with your own family.
- A: Yes.
- Q: Didn't he basically tell you, I am going to bring your family in here to watch you testify?
- (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 634).

At that point the defense objected to the question being leading and the witness answered

yes. (A.A. Vol. III, pp. 635).

The prosecutor further questioned Mr. Gantt stating,

Q: You were asked about changing your mind. Isn't it true today that you changed your mind about testifying because you were concerned about the people in the courtroom?

A: Yes.

Objection by the defense.

The Court will strike - - will strike - - strike the question, strike the answer.(A.A. Vol. III, pp. 645).

Pamela Neal was living at 2529 Morton Avenue, Apartment D on March 3,2001. (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 191). At approximately 3:30 p.m., 2001, Ms. Neal was getting ready to go downstairs to take the downstairs neighbor to work. (A.A. Vol. II pp. 193-194). As she came out her door, she observed people surrounding Joseph William ("dough boy") and firing approximately 20 shots. (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 196-197). Ms. Neal indicated that there were approximately 5 or 6 people that surrounded "dough boy" and that he put his hands up in the air just prior to the shooting. (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 201). Ms. Neal identified the people that surrounded "dough boy" as Wayne Gantt, Lailoni Morrison, and Ashley Bennett. (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 202). However, in her initial statement to the police she indicated that she did not have any information for the police. (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 216). She testified that the reason she didn't tell the police any information because "it wasn't none of my business at the time". (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 216). More importantly, at a subsequent date, Mr. Neal told the police she could identify the shooters. She initially identified Louis Matthews as a shooter. (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 266-267).

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