î,		
1	<b>IN THE SUPREME COUR</b>	<b>T OF THE STATE OF NEVADA</b>
2		
3		
4		ORIGINAL
5	ASHLEY WILLIAM BENNETT,	) UNIGINAL
6	Appellant,	}
7	v.	Case No. 39864
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	$\left\{\begin{array}{c} \text{Case No. 39864} \\ \text{Case No. 39864}$
9	Respondent.	) NOV 2 0 2003
10		JANETTE M. BLOOM
11	RESPONDENT'S	SANSWERING BRIEF
12	Appeal From	n Judgment of Conviction District Court, Clark County
13	Eighth Judicial	District Court, Clark County
14	CHRISTOPHER ORAM	DAVID ROGER
15	Attorney at Law Nevada Bar No. 004349 520 South Fourth Streat, 2nd Floor	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781

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

Seventh, Defendant neglects to mention that the issue of witness intimidation
arose during the State's redirect examination *after the Defendant "opened the door" to this issue* on cross-examination. (AA, 675-677) The Court noted on the record that
Defendant had opened the door and that a witness in the courtroom was making
intimidating gestures while Gantt testified (AA, 675-677).

27

//

//

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21



Π

Defendant claims that the trial court committed reversible error for failing to hold a pretrial hearing on the issue of witness intimidation, citing <u>Tinch v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1170, 946 P.2d 1061 (1997) and <u>Petrocelli v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985).

First, those cases do not stand for that proposition. The passing reference to witness intimidation made during the State's redirect examination after the defense opened the door was relevant to the credibility of witness Gantt; not as "proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident" pursuant to NRS 48.045(2) of anything the Defendant did. There was absolutely no requirement to hold a Petrocelli hearing. Furthermore, the matter of witness intimidation and possible exclusion of spectators was in fact discussed outside the presence of the jury (AA, 528-534).

Second, there is nothing in the record to indicate that defense counsel requested any limiting instruction on this issue at any time. Defendant's failure to request such an instruction should bar appellate review.

Third, Defendant fails to cite any authority for the proposition that the court was required sua sponte to give a limiting instruction with respect to witness intimidation evidence. "Contentions unsupported by specific argument or authority should be summarily rejected on appeal." <u>Mazzan v. Warden</u>, 116 Nev. 48, 993 P.2d 25 (2000). Defendant's reliance on <u>Tavares v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 725, 30 P.2d 1128 (2001) is inapposite since there was no "bad act" evidence introduced to prove motive or anything else the Defendant did. The intimidation evidence was introduced in response to attacks on the credibility of witness Gantt.

#### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN LIMITING HEARSAY TESTIMONY FROM LAKIESHA REED AND REGINALD FOBBS

III

Defendant's contention that defense witnesses Reed (AA, 904-906) and Fobbs (AA, 900-904) were limited in their testimony is not supported by any clear citation to the record, although there is passing reference to a sidebar conference (AA, 923). In any event, to the extent that their proposed testimony may have been discussed off the record, the district court clearly indicated that Reed's testimony was "double, possibly triple hearsay." (AA, 923). The matter was argued outside the presence of the jury after Reed and Fobbs testified (AA, 923-924) during which the Defendant himself spoke up and attempted to argue the court's ruling with the Judge (AA, 924-927).

The trial court properly excluded as hearsay any testimony from witness Reed regarding a phone conversation she had with the nontestifying Defendant concerning witness Neal. (AA, 905-906).

In discussing Reed's proposed testimony, something about a conversation Reed overheard between the Defendant and witness Neal regarding statements made by some individual called Tyro that the Defendant was involved in the death of Eric Bass (AA, 923-924), the court stated quite clearly on the record, "I'm not going to let that in, again as being hearsay, number one. Number two, under 48.035 the Court finds it is not relevant as to these proceedings." (AA, 924). The Court also had concerns "as to the truthfulness of this." (AA, 924).

The trial court also properly excluded as unreliable hearsay possible testimony from witness Fobbs, an incarcerated Gerson gang member (AA, 233, 901) about an alleged conversation his sister (witness Neal) may have overheard on some occasion from some unnamed homicide detectives about some matter that might have been relevant. (AA, 903).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in keeping the trial on track and prohibiting the introduction of evidence that was both irrelevant and based on multiple layers of hearsay.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

#### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN LIMITING THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF PAMELA NEAL

Defendant contends that he should have been able to cross-examine witness Neal about the specifics of a prior bad act pursuant to <u>Moore v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 220, 607 P.2d 105 (1980).

In a hearing held outside the presence of the jury *prior* to the testimony of witness Neal (AA, 169-174), defense counsel indicated that they wanted to get into certain specifics of a case (which was previously dismissed) against witness Neal to "show Ms. Neal's violence" and that "if she or her family was threatened, she was going to do what she had to do." (AA, 171, lines 12-15). The Court properly determined that some specifics might be admissible to show witness bias or credibility but that "Again, the specific facts are not appropriate." (AA, 172).

In a second hearing outside the presence of the jury after the direct examination 17 of witness Neal (AA, 243-250), defense counsel again argued to get into the specifics 18 of the dismissed case because Neal had testified that her case had been dismissed for 19 lack of evidence and defense counsel felt otherwise. (AA, 244). The State responded 20 at length that the case against Neal could not be proven (AA, 244-246 and 249-250) 21 and the Court ultimately stated that "The Court is not going to deviate from its prior 22 position in terms of going into the specific allegations, (a) because it's not appropriate 23 and (b), because it's a waste of time. This trial is not about that. However, as I 24 indicated previously, her credibility or bias is at issue and counsel, because of the 25 statement as to dismissal, can indicate what Mr. Koot told the Court, or more 26 specifically, that it was being dismissed and immunity was being offered, but again, 27 we're not gonna get into the specifics as to what happened, except what she was 28

 $1 \underset{I \land APPELLAT \land WPDOCS \land SECRETARY \land BRIEF \land ANSWER \land BENNETT, ASHLEY BRF 39864 DOC$ 

originally charged with. And that is what the transcript [of the dismissal of her case] says." (AA, 248).

Defendant wanted to get into the specifics of the previously dismissed case in order to portray the witness as a violent hot-head who would do anything to protect her family. The specifics of the dismissed case had nothing to do with her credibility or bias against the Defendant and the district court properly exercised its discretion in controlling cross-examination.

As this Court has recognized, "The scope and extent of cross-examination is 8 largely within the sound discretion of the trial court and in the absence of abuse of 9 discretion a reversal will not be granted." Azbill v. State, 88 Nev. 240, 246, 495 P.2d 10 1064, 1068 (1972) citing Smith v. Illinois, 390 U.S. 129, 88 S.Ct. 748 (1968). "The 11 Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not 12 cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the 13 defense might wish." Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20, 106 S.Ct. 292, 294 14 (1985). Even when the bias of a witness is at issue, trial judges retain the right to 15 restrict "inquiries which are repetitive, irrelevant, vague, speculative, or designed 16 merely to harass, annoy or humiliate the witness." Bushnell v. State, 95 Nev. 570, 17 573, 599 P.2d 1038, 1040 (1979); Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 18 S.Ct. 1431, 1435 (1986). "Trial judges 'retain wide latitude' to restrict such inquiry 19 'based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the 20 issues, the witness' safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally 21 relevant." Bridges v. State, 116 Nev. 752, 761, 6 P.3d 1000, 1007 (2000); Leonard v. 22 State, 117 Nev. 53, 17 P.3d 397, 409 (2001). 23

24 25

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in controlling the trial proceedings and preventing a time-consuming, confusing, irrelevant and speculative cross-examination of witness Neal on specifics of a dismissed case that had no bearing on her credibility or bias towards the Defendant.

 $1_{1}$ 

28

26

## THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN INSTRUCTING THE JURY REGARDING MALICE

V

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

First, there is no indication in the record that defense counsel made a timely objection to Jury Instructions #8 and #9, the instructions now alleged to have been erroneously given. The Court specifically asked: "Defense is likewise familiar with the proposed instructions. Any instructions that defense wishes to object to at this time?" Ms. Simpkins: No, Your Honor." (AA, 938).

It is axiomatic that failure to object in a timely fashion precludes appellate 9 consideration. Cutler v. State, 93 Nev. 329, 337, 566 P.2d 809, 814 (1977); McCall v. 10 11 State, 91 Nev. 556, 557 540 P.2d 95 (1975); Clark v. State, 89 Nev. 392, 393, 513 P.2d 1224 (1973); State v. Foquette, 67 Nev. 505, 524, 221 P.2d 404 (1950). This 12 Court has stated that "when a defendant's counsel has not only failed at trial to object 13 14 to jury instructions, but has agreed to them, the failure to object or to request special instructions precludes appellate consideration... The only exception we have 15 16 recognized to this otherwise absolute rule is one for plain error." Bonacci v. State, 96 Nev. 894, 899, 620 P.2d 1244, 1247 (1980). Plain error has been defined as that 17 18 which is "so unmistakable that it reveals itself by a casual inspection of the record." 19 Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 907 P.2d 984, 987 (1995), citing Torres v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 106 Nev. 340, 345 n. 2, 793 P. 2d 839, 842 (1990), quoting 20 Williams v. Zellhoefer, 89 Nev. 579, 580, 517 P.2d 789, 789 (1973). In Manley v. 21 State, 115 Nev. 114, 125, 979 P.2d 703, 709 (1999), the Court held that if the defense 22 failed to propose a different jury instruction when the court settled jury instructions 23 24 "then no patently prejudicial error occurred which warrants consideration of this issue 25 on appeal." In McKenna v. State, 114 Nev. 1044 at 1054, 968 P.2d 739, 746 (1998), the Nevada Supreme Court held that the failure to object to a jury instruction 26 precludes appellate review, unless the error is patently prejudicial (citing Flanagan v. 27 State, 112 Nev. 1409, 1423, 930 P.2d 691, 700 (1996)). 28

 $12^{-1}_{1}$ 

Second, NRS 200.020(2) states that "Malice shall be implied when no considerable provocation appears, or when all of the circumstances of the killing show an abandoned and malignant heart." In <u>Cutler v. State</u>, 93 Nev. 329, 336, 566 P.2d 809, 813 (1977), this Court noted that it is appropriate to give a statute as an instruction to the jury in a criminal case.

Third, as in <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 118 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 55, 50 P.3d 1100, 1111 (2002), Defendant failed to preserve the issue for appeal or demonstrate plain error. <u>In Hernandez</u>, this Court stated, "as to whether implied malice is defined in impermissibly vague, archaic terms, this court considered and rejected this argument last year." citing Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 78-79, 17 P.3d 397, 413 (2001).

Fourth, Defendant's contention (Opening Brief, page 29, line 24) that the "abandoned or malignant heart" language is not used by any other state and violates due process is factually and *recklessly* incorrect even if couched in equivocal terms. A cursory and non-exhaustive search reveals that the "abandoned and malignant heart" language is used in both statutes and cases from several states to include California, Georgia, Wyoming, Idaho, Michigan, Utah, Arizona and Illinois.<sup>1</sup>

17

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

<sup>18</sup> Section 187 of the California Penal Code provides in pertinent part: "(a) Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being with malice aforethought." and Section 188 provides: "Such malice may be 19 express or implied. It is express when there is manifested a deliberate intention unlawfully to take away the life of a fellow creature. It is implied, when no considerable provocation appears, or when the circumstances attending the killing show an *abandoned and malignant heart*." See also <u>People</u> v. <u>Martinez</u>, 31 Cal.4th 673, 684, 74 P.3d 748, 755, 3 Cal.Rptr.3d 648, 657 (2003); <u>Keats v. State</u>, 20 21 64 P.3d 104, 110 (Wyo., 2003)["malice may be implied or inferred from any deliberate and cruel act against another, or his property, which shows an *abandoned and malignant heart*."]; Johnson v. 22 State, 570 S.E.2d 309, 312 (Ga., 2002)["After charging the jury on express malice, the trial court charged that 'malice may, but need not, be implied where no considerable provocation appears and all the circumstances of the killing show an abandoned and malignant heart.""]: Hill v. State, 555 23 S.E.2d 696, 700 (Ga.,2001)["Under OCGA § 16-5-1(b), express malice is the deliberate intention unlawfully to take a life, manifested by external circumstances, and malice may be implied where no 24 considerable provocation appears and where the circumstances of the killing show an abandoned 25 and malignant heart."]; State v. Luke, 1 P.3d 795, 802 (Idaho, 2000) ["There is express intent which contains a manifest intention, and implied intent which entails killing with an abandoned or malignant heart." citing State v. Buckley, 953 P.2d 604, 605 (1998)]; People v. Goecke, 579 N.W.2d 868, 880 (Mich., 1998)["Another way to conceptualize this mental state is to recognize that 26 27 because malice is implied when the circumstances attending the killing demonstrate an abandoned and malignant heart,"]; Fenstermaker v. State, 912 P.2d 653 (Idaho App., 1995)["Crime of second 28 degree murder requires intent to kill or mental state of having an abandoned and malignant heart."]; State v. Fontana, 680 P.2d 1042, 1045 (Utah, 1984) This interpretation is consistent with our own

Finally, as this Court noted in <u>Scott v. State</u>, 92 Nev. 552, 556, 554 P.2d 735, 738 (1976), when the jury returns a verdict of murder in the first degree, they must have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant murdered deliberately, willfully and with premeditation. Since the jury found express malice, implied malice played no part in the Defendant's conviction.

ا من المنظمة ا المنظمة المنظمة

The instructions at issue are not unconstitutionally vague and ambiguous and are not patently prejudicial.

### $\mathbf{VI}$ .

#### THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION SHOULD NOT BE REVERSED FOR CUMULATIVE ERROR

This Court has held that under the doctrine of cumulative error, "although 11 individual errors may be harmless, the cumulative effect of multiple errors may 12 deprive a defendant of the constitutional right to a fair trial." Pertgen v. State, 110 13 Nev. 554, 566, 875 P.2d 361, 368 (1994); see also Big Pond v. State, 101 Nev. 1, 3, 14 692 P.2d 1288, 1289 (1985). The relevant factors to consider in determining "whether 15 error is harmless or prejudicial include whether 'the issue of innocence or guilt is 16 close, the quantity and character of the error, and the gravity of the crime charged." 17 Big Pond, 101 Nev. at 3, 692 P.2d at 1289. The doctrine of cumulative error "requires 18 that numerous errors be committed, not merely alleged." People v. Rivers, 727 P.2d 19 394, 401 (Colo. App. 1986); see also, People v. Jones, 665 P.2d 127, 131 (Colo. App.  $20^{\circ}$ 1982). Evidence against the defendant must therefore be "substantial enough to 21 convict him in an otherwise fair trial and it must be said without reservation that the 22

23

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

- 24
- 25

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